

Bard College Bard Digital Commons

Senior Projects Spring 2016

Bard Undergraduate Senior Projects

Spring 2016

Effects of Early Life Stress on Anhedonia and Striatal Dopamine Concentration Depends on Variation in catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT) Genotype

Sally Lauren Cole Bard College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.bard.edu/senproj_s2016

Part of the Genetics Commons, Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons, and the Psychiatry and

Psychology Commons



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 4.0 License.

Recommended Citation

Cole, Sally Lauren, "Effects of Early Life Stress on Anhedonia and Striatal Dopamine Concentration Depends on Variation in catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) Genotype" (2016). *Senior Projects Spring 2016*. 232.

https://digitalcommons.bard.edu/senproj_s2016/232

This Open Access work is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been provided to you by Bard College's Stevenson Library with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this work in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rightsholder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@bard.edu.



Effects of Early Life Stress on Anhedonia and Striatal Dopamine Concentration Depends on

Variation in catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) Genotype

Senior Project submitted to

The Division of Science, Mathematics and Computing

of Bard College

by

Sally Cole

Annandale-on-Hudson, New York

May 2016

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone that has helped to guide and support me in making this project possible. I am especially grateful for everyone in the Bard Psychology Department, whose instruction and guidance have helped me foster an intense curiosity in aspects of neuroscience, genetics, and abnormal psychology, and a passion for research. Thank you for helping me to develop as an independent, critical thinker.

I would especially like to acknowledge Amy Winecoff for being an extremely supportive and encouraging senior project advisor. Without you, I would still be trying to design one experiment around about 30 different variables. Thank you for helping me to develop a cohesive, coherent experiment and senior project paper.

I would also like to thank Ben Opatut, Avery Cross, and my family for supporting me through this process and acting interested in my project even if they didn't understand what it was about. I am grateful for my mom and dad for reading countless drafts of my project, taking countless phone calls when I was freaking out, and always responding to my (many) emails.

Preface

My work in the Applied Research Externship Program in Clinical Outcomes at Astor Services for Children and Families in Rhinebeck, NY, combined with my volunteering experience with the children in Astor's residential program, has had a profound and gratifying effect on me as well as a strong influence on my current research interest. Astor Services for Children and Families provides services and treatment for children whose parents are having trouble caring for them for various reasons. Many of the children enrolled in Astor's services have experienced various forms of abuse or have witnessed abuse towards their parents or violence in their communities. Last spring at Astor, I contributed to a project on clinical outcomes of children and families enrolled in Astor's satellite outpatient programs in Bronx, NY. I was initially shocked at the sheer number of children enrolled in Astor's programs, as the current number of case files exceeded ten thousand.

In my anecdotal observations, there seemed to be a high occurrence of depression, anxiety, self-harm, and suicide attempts for children who had experienced childhood abuse or trauma. This sobering observation compelled me to further investigate potential effects of childhood trauma on behavioral and psychological outcomes. My reading of the literature leading up to this project has revealed some potential mechanisms that may be at play leading to adverse outcomes, and specifically, led me to investigate gene x environment interaction factors in early life trauma that may modulate vulnerability to depression.

Table of Contents

ostract

Chapter 1: Literature Review	7
Anhedonia and Depression	8
Etiology of Depression	9
Chronic Stress and Depression	10
Early Life Trauma and Depression	13
Dopamine Dysregulation and Depression	16
Evidence for a Gene-Environment Interaction in the Etiology of Depression	18
Animal Models of Depression	20
Summary of Rationale and Hypotheses to be Tested	22

Chapter 2: Method	24
Subjects	24
Postnatal Treatment	24
Maternal Separation Stress Paradigm	25
Fecal Corticosterone Analysis	26
Sucrose Consumption Test	27
Tissue Collection and Dopamine Analysis via HPLC	27
Data Analysis	29
Preliminary Analyses	29
Main Analyses	30

Chapter 3: Proposed Results	
Preliminary Analyses: Fecal Corticosterone Metabolite Levels	31
Anhedonia	32
Striatal Dopamine Concentration	34
Correlation	
Chapter 4: Discussion	37
Conclusion	44
References	46

Appendix A: IACUC Proposal	58
----------------------------	----

Abstract

Depression is a serious, costly, and heterogeneous disorder for which no one genetic determinant has been identified. Research has shown that stress, and subsequent hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation, is a significant predictor of depression, and one particular stressor that has been linked to vulnerability to depression and HPA axis dysregulation is early life trauma. Due to the heterogeneity and complexity of depression, it is likely that specific geneenvironment interactions play a role in the development of depression. Interaction between catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) Val¹⁵⁸Met variants with specific environmental factors can potentially increase vulnerability to depression. The present proposed experiment examines the interaction between COMT genotype and the effects of early life stress in a maternal separation paradigm on behavioral and neurological factors in a rodent model of depression. Outcome measures include anhedonia-like behavior, as indexed by performance on a sucrose consumption test, and striatal dopamine concentration, a neurological measure of depression. I hypothesize that across genotype, stress leads to decreased sucrose consumption and decreased striatal dopamine concentrations. However, the functional *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism will interact with stress such that these results are most pronounced among stressed Met/Met rats, as compared to Val/Met rats and Val/Val rats. These results may have implications for treatment of depression in *COMT* polymorphic individuals, who appear to be more sensitive to stress and more vulnerable to developing depression.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), depression is currently the leading cause of disability worldwide as measured by years lived with disabilities (YLDs), affecting 350 million people of all ages (WHO, 2015). Depression is characterized by serious impairments in physical and emotional domains (Rost, 2009) such as depressed mood, feelings of worthlessness, anhedonia, and changes in appetite and sleep (APA, 2013). At any given time point, about 6% of the US population meet the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) criteria for depression (Penninx et al., 2013). Depression is costly, accounting for 4.3% of the global burden of disease (WHO, 2013). It is expected that by 2020, depression will be the second leading cause of disease globally, as measured by disability adjusted life years (Chapman and Perry, 2008). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis has demonstrated that depression increases the risk of overall mortality and is associated with increased medical morbidity (Penninx et al., 2013).

Symptom presentation in depression is relatively heterogeneous, due to the categorical nature of DSM diagnosis. For example, some diagnostic features of depression, which were previously referred to as subtypes in the DSM-IV (APA, 2000), include depression with melancholic features, depression with catatonic features, and depression with atypical features (APA, 2013). Depression with melancholic features is marked by anhedonia and loss of pleasure, as well as despair, weight loss, excessive guilt, psychomotor agitation or retardation, early-morning awakening, and/or depression that is worse in the morning (APA, 2013). Depression with catatonic behavior, such as stupor, catalepsy, waxy flexibility, mutism, negativism, posturing, odd mannerisms, stereotypy, agitation, grimacing, echolalia, and/or echopraxia (APA, 2013). In contrast, depression with atypical features is

7

marked by mood reactivity and weight gain, hypersomnia, leaden feelings of the arms and legs, and/or interpersonal rejection sensitivity (APA, 2013). Because cases of depression vary in terms of symptomatology, it may be beneficial to approach investigation into the mechanisms and etiology of depression by examining specific aspects of depression in a dimensional, rather than a categorical approach to the disorder.

Anhedonia and Depression

As mentioned above, anhedonia is a core symptom of depression, associated with decreased subjective experience of pleasure and reduced interest in previously enjoyed activities (APA, 2013; Naranjo et al., 2001). A recent review suggests that anhedonia is an aspect of depression distinct from mood disturbance, and that is comprised of motivational (such as diminished drive to achieve a goal) and consummatory components, such as diminished participation in activities that were once considered pleasurable, or decreased consumption of palatable substances in rodent models of depression (Argyropoulos and Nutt, 2013). These two components of anhedonia map onto Berridge and Robinson's (1998) incentive salience hypothesis, in which reward is comprised of two components: "wanting," of a stimulus and "liking" or the hedonic value associated with a stimulus.

The presence of anhedonia, or the decreased experience of pleasure and decreased motivation to partake in pleasurable activites, in depression may predict worse outcomes with treatment. One study evaluating 811 adults with moderate to severe depression demonstrated that the presence of anhedonia symptoms (such as loss of interest, diminished activity, lack of enjoyment) predicts poorer outcomes in response to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) or noradrenergic antidepressant treatment (Uher et al., 2012). Similarly, anhedonia has been shown to predict poorer recovery among adolescents with SSRI treatment-resistant depression

(McMakin et al., 2012). These findings denote the difficulties in treating depression, as clinical symptoms manifest differently across individuals and signaling via various neurotransmitters with varying neural pathways may subserve different aspects of the disorder. Furthermore, these findings indicate that further research on the mechanisms of anhedonia and outcomes associated with it, as well as on markers of vulnerability to depression with anhedonia, are necessary in order to inform treatment approaches and improve depression treatment outcomes.

Etiology of depression

As mentioned previously, depression has proven to be a complex and heterogeneous disorder, such that it may result from a variety of causes (Duman, 2014; Malki, 2014) and comprises "multiple disorders with overlapping symptoms and diverse etiologies" (Hamon, 2013). According to a meta-analysis on the epidemiology of major depression, heritability of the disorder ranges between 31% and 42% (Sullivan et al., 2000). These heritability estimates allow for a large environmental influence in the etiology of depression. Twin studies reviewed in the above article demonstrate the complexity of the etiology of depression, as both environmental and genetic influences together were required for the disorder to occur (Sullivan et al., 2000). It is likely that specific gene-environment interactions play a role in the development of depression, and dysregulation in multiple neurological pathways lead to depression, contributing to the considerable heterogeneity of the disorder (Sullivan et al., 2000).

Importantly, in a recent meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) for major depressive disorder, including 18,759 subjects, no locus reached genome-wide significance (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, 2013). In other words, within this study with a very large sample size, no one genetic determinant could be identified for major depressive disorder. These results (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, 2013) support the hypothesis that depression is comprised of multiple disorders and is extremely heterogeneous in its etiology and neural pathways (Hamon, 2013; Penninx et al., 2013). Therefore it is important to study depression in terms of gene-environment interactions in order to parse the heterogeneous origins of the disorder and identify the mechanisms of the disorder.

One way to investigate gene-environment interactions in the etiology of depression is to look at anhedonia as an endophenotype of depression, as anhedonia is a central aspect of depression and, "vulnerability markers that are inherent to a psychiatric disorder have been proposed as 'intermediate' phenotypes of 'endophenotpes'," (Antypa et al., 2013). Furthermore, in terms of gene-environment interactions, the effect of the gene on the endophenotype might be more readily and robustly demonstrated than the effects of the gene on a full, complex phenotype (Antypa et al., 2013). In other words, gene-environment interactions may therefore be best demonstrated on an endophenotype rather than the complex set of phenotypes that make up clinical depression.

Chronic stress and depression

One major theory of the etiology of depression suggests that chronic stress and subsequent hyperactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is causally involved in the development and maintenance of depression (McEwen, 2002; Roy & Campbell, 2013; Guerry and Hastings, 2011; Tarullo and Gunnar, 2006). The HPA axis (see Figure 1) is a physiological system that includes the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and adrenal glands, and comprises a major component of the body's stress response, culminating in the release of mineralocorticoids such as aldosterone, and glucocorticoids, such as cortisol (McEwen, 2002). The HPA axis functions to help the body react to a stressor, such that it may be able to fight or

flee, as well as to signal that the stressor is gone and thus the stress response should be ended (McEwen, 2002). The hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and adrenal glands form a circuit that ultimately promotes the release of corticosteroids (mineralocoids and glucocorticoids). This system normally comes into play upon noticing the presence of a stressor and is initiated by the release of epinephrine and norepinephrine. This prompts the release of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) from the hypothalamus to signal the pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the bloodstream (McEwen, 2002; Seaward, 2013). When the ACTH reaches receptors in the adrenal glands, this prompts the adrenals to release corticosteroids, such as cortisol (McEwen, 2002; Seaward, 2013).

The major function of the corticosteroids released in the stress response is to prepare the body for a fight or flight reaction in response to a serious stressor, promoting survival in a threatening situation. Mineralocoids function to modulate fluid retention and regulate sodium levels, and glucocorticoids such as cortisol function to increase blood pressure and heart rate, convert glycogen into glucose in preparation for energy expenditure, and mobilize stored fats (Seaward, 2013). Once the situation is no longer threatening and the stressor has gone, acetylcholine is released in order to "turn off" the arousal effects of the HPA stress response and conserve energy (Seaward, 2013). Within the HPA axis, cortisol and epinephrine have self-regulatory pathways (McEwen, 2002), which activate to shut off the stress response once the stressful event is over. One way in which the HPA system can become dysregulated is if these self-regulatory pathways fail, and the stress response remains on, or in a hyper-responsive state (McEwen, 2002).



Figure 1. Schematic of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis stress response. The hypothalamus releases CRF, which prompts the pituitary gland to release ACTH into the circulation. ACTH prompts the adrenal glands to release glucocorticoids, including cortisol. Adapted from Stephens and Wand, 2012.

Chronic stress can lead to dysregulation of the HPA axis, and this can lead to detrimental effects to both physical and mental health (McEwen, 2002). This has implications for depression, as it has been proposed that dysregulation of the HPA axis, particularly in the form of hyper-

reactivity of the system, increases vulnerability to depression (McEwen, 2002) by making certain people "more susceptible to the depressogenic effects of stress" (Guerry and Hastings, 2011). This view implicates the HPA axis as having a potential mechanistic role in depression, which may be influenced by both environmental and genetic factors. Indeed, longitudinal research reviewed in a recent article shows support for the hypothesis that overall HPA dysregulation precedes and predicts development of depression later in life (Guerry and Hastings, 2011). These results are indicative of HPA axis hyperactivity, and stress exposure across the lifespan has been shown to cumulatively increase risk for depression (Vinkers et al., 2014). Thus dysregulation of the HPA axis and subsequent hypercortisolism is causally associated with increased vulnerability to depression.

Early Life Trauma and Depression

One significant stressor that has been identified in the scientific literature as a risk factor for depression is childhood trauma (Neigh et al., 2009; Briere and Jordan, 2009; Heim et al., 2008). Recent review articles have demonstrated the correlation between early life trauma and increased risk of depression as well as the connection between early life trauma and HPA axis dysregulation (Neigh et al., 2009; Briere and Jordan, 2009; Heim et al., 2008). Childhood physical and sexual abuse, and depression have been linked to over-production of cortisol and a hyper-responsive HPA axis (McEwen, 2002; Read et al., 2005). Furthermore, in cases of trauma or chronic stress, the negative feedback loops in the HPA axis become dysregulated, and thus the stress response, and the production of cortisol is not "turned off" in the absence of a stressor (Lee and Sawa, 2014).

The association between early life trauma and increased risk of depression appears to be specific to childhood trauma, such as physical, sexual, or emotional abuse, and is not

demonstrated between other adverse childhood events (such as parental divorce) and depression (Hovens, et al., 2010). Patients with depression have been shown to have experienced significantly more severe traumatic events than control participants (Bandelow et al., 2013) and individuals with a greater number of previous major depressive episodes have experienced greater childhood trauma exposure than control participants (Morris et al., 2014). In addition, early life trauma has been connected to increased emotional reactivity in response to stressors later in life (Shapero et al., 2014).

Animal models support a connection between emotional reactivity and early trauma. For example, in a recent rodent experiment modeling maternal neglect, a form of childhood trauma, it was revealed that rat pups exposed to low levels of maternal care as opposed to high levels of maternal care were more susceptible to stress and anhedonia-like behaviors (Henningsen et al., 2012). Rats exposed to low maternal care also exhibited higher levels of corticosterone following exposure to chronic mild stress (Henningsen et al., 2012). These findings (Henningsen et al., 2012) suggest that early life stress leads to HPA axis dysregulation and increased susceptibility to anhedonia-like behavior.

Interestingly, early life trauma seems to have pronounced effects on outcomes relating to psychopathology, as compared to trauma in adulthood. This seems to be because the brain is in a critical stage of plasticity and development at this time period, and the specific effects of stress on the brain and behavior "depend on the timing and duration of exposure," (Lupien et al., 2009). Furthermore, the brain is particularly sensitive to the effects of stress during the early life period (Lupien et al., 2009). For example, one study of healthy humans has shown that early life stress causes alterations in regions of the brain associated with emotion, as evidenced by decreased amygdala volume and cortical thickness in the rostral anterior cingulate cortex (Korgaonkar et

al., 2013). In addition, studies involving rodent models of early life stress demonstrate similar effects. Early life stress has been demonstrated to interfere with brain development, affecting the structural and functional plasticity of the medial prefrontal cortex, contributing to anxiety-related behaviors in adolescent rats (Chocyk et al., 2013). The effects of early life stress have also been shown to impair coping abilities when faced with stressful challenges in adult rats (Horovitz et al., 2012).

As early life trauma has been shown to lead to negative outcomes relating to psychopathology in humans and in rodent models (Lupien et al., 2009; Korgaonkar et al., 2013; Chocyk et al., 2013; Horovitz et al., 2012), recent research has examined variations in maternal care in rodent models of early life trauma (Carlyle et al., 2012; George et al., 2010). George et al., (2010) designed a model of early life neglect in which mice pups were exposed to maternal separation with early weaning (MSEW). They found that one strain of mice exposed to MSEW exhibited increased anxiety, hyperactivity, and behavioral despair, as seen in the open field test, elevated plus maze, and forced swim test (George et al., 2010). Another rodent model of early life trauma is periodic postnatal infant-mother separation, in which mouse pups are separated from their mothers for 3 hours per day during the first 10 days of life (Murgatroyd and Spengler, 2011). When implemented with mice, this paradigm induced elevated corticosterone levels, increased endocrine responsiveness to stress, altered negative feedback of the HPA axis, and reduced coping abilities in response to stress (Murgatroyd and Spengler, 2011). In addition, another study examining the effects of stressors in juvenility in rats found similar behavioral results, and also that stress during this period of the lifespan alters the maturation of the limbic system (Tsoory et al., 2008). This finding is significant because the limbic system is integral to emotion processing, and thus dysregulation of this system could underlie a predisposition to

stress-related behaviors and psychopathology. Taken together, these studies suggest that early life trauma is particularly harmful to the developing brain, conferring vulnerability to various psychopathologies.

Dopamine Dysregulation and Depression

Early pharmaceutical treatments for depression, beginning in the 1950s, reflected monoamine theories of depression (Mulinari, 2012). These theories generally postulate that depression occurs as a result of insufficient levels of monoamines, such as norepinephrine or serotonin. Two common classes of compounds used to treat depression and increase levels of catecholamines in the brain at this time were monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs), such as Iproniazid, and tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), such as Imipramine (Mulinari, 2012; Shorter, 2009). Later on, the serotonin hypothesis of depression came to prominence, postulating that depression occurred as a result of too little serotonin in the brain. In the late 1980s and 1990s, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, including Prozac, were marketed, with seemingly great therapeutic success (Mulinari, 2012; Shorter, 2009).

Current theories of depression tend to focus on serotonin and serotonin pathways, but because depression is so heterogeneous a disorder, multiple pathways must be implicated in order to explain the varied causes and presentations of the disorder. Recent research has shown that current treatments for depression with SSRIs are not sufficiently effective, as determined by remission rates (Sinyor et al., 2010), suggesting that investigation of other mechanisms of depression is needed. Dopamine may be a good candidate for alternate mechanistic hypotheses of depression, as it mediates movement, affect, emotion, cognition, and reward (Haenisch and Bonisch, 2011). Dopamine has been extensively researched for its potential role in anhedonia (associated with the inability to experience pleasure) and depression (Argyropoulos and Nutt, 2013).

As mentioned above, dopamine has been shown to play a critical role in motivation and reward seeking behavior (Haenisch and Bonisch, 2011; Salamone et al., 2007) and it has been shown to play a role in the expectation of pleasure (Sharot et al., 2009). It has been postulated that the neural pathways subserving reward processes include the mesolimbic, nigrostriatal, and mesocortical dopamine reward pathways (Argyropoulos and Nutt, 2013). Specifically, it has been suggested that the striatum (part of the nucleus accumbens in the basal ganglia), which receives dopaminergic input from the ventral tegmental area, is critical to reward processing (Nestler and Carlezon, 2006). Berridge and Robinson (1998) put forth the incentive salience hypothesis, which posits that reward can be separated into components of "wanting" and "liking," and these processes are mediated by different neural systems. This hypothesis suggests that dopamine mediates the "wanting" but not the "liking" (the hedonic value of a stimulus) component of reward (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Berridge, 2007). Furthermore, the "dopamine-related neural systems that mediate 'wanting' interact with hedonic and associative learning components...to produce the larger composite process of reward" (Berridge and Robinson, 1998). Thus dopamine is an important factor in the neural processing of reward, but it is likely not responsible for the entire reward response.

Recent evidence has shown that dopamine dysregulation is associated with anhedonia (Argyropoulos and Nutt, 2013). For example, Sarchiapone et al. (2006) examined dopamine transporter (DAT) binding in a sample of depressed patients with anhedonia as compared to healthy controls, and found that depressed patients showed lower DAT binding in the striatum. Furthermore, dopamine reuptake transporter knockout (DATKO) mice show decreased anhedonia, or an antidepressant-like behavior (Haenisch and Bonisch, 2011), implicating

dopamine dysregulation in depression. Dysregulation of dopamine, and thus of reward-relevant functions mediated by dopamine, can be a component of depression in some cases, and in fact, some current antidepressant drugs such as buproprion, target dopamine transporters in order to increase synaptic dopamine (Porcelli et al., 2011).

Evidence for a Gene-Environment Interaction in the Etiology of Depression

Research has shown that depression develops as a result of the interaction between adverse environmental factors (stress) and genetic predisposition to vulnerability to stress (McGowan and Kato, 2008). Furthermore, gene-environment interactions seem to be an important factor in the adverse outcomes of humans who experienced various forms of early life trauma (Briere et al., 2009). Research has provided support for gene-environment interactions in depression in association with multiple different genes, indicating again the heterogeneity of the disorder. Genes that have been identified in gene-environment interactions in depression include variants of 5HTTLPR, which codes for a promoter region of the serotonin transporter in humans (Colman and Ataullahjan, 2010; Banducci et al., 2014), MAOA, or monoamine oxidase A (Jabbi et al., 2007), FKBP5, or FK506 binding protein (Holz et al., 2015), and COMT, or catechol-Omethyltransferase (Norrholm et al., 2013; Antypa et al., 2013), among others. These genes code for various enzymes or proteins that have implications in depression and specifically in neural pathways associated with depression.

Catechol-O-methyltransferase, or COMT, is critical for the catabolism of dopamine (Norrholm et al., 2013). The *COMT* gene is located on chromosome 22q11.2 (Antypa et al., 2013). A *COMT* polymorphism that has been studied extensively is the Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism, which has been linked to mental illness (Norrholm et al., 2013). The Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism is a single nucleotide polymorphism that codes for a substitution of valine for methionine at codon 158 (Lachman et al., 1996; Antypa et al., 2013). Wild type (WT) *COMT* genotype codes for valine (Val), and the variant codes for methionine (Met). Thus individuals homozygous for the wild type allele have the Val/Val genotype. Heterozygotes are Val/Met, and those homozygous for the variant allele are Met/Met. Having one or more copies of the Met allele is associated with decreased COMT enzyme activity (Lachman et al., 1996), and thus increased dopamine levels in the brain. In contrast, the wild type Val/Val genotype is associated with increased COMT activity (Lachman et al., 1996) and thus decreased dopamine levels in the brain. These findings suggest that the Met/Met genotype might be associated with disorders that are potentially connected with too much dopamine/ dopamine activity (such as schizophrenia), while the wild type Val/Val genotype might be associated with disorders potentially connected with too little dopamine activity (such as depression). However, results have shown conflicting evidence for an association between frequency of one allele or genotype and depression (Antypa et al., 2013).

While there have been mixed results on which variant confers vulnerability to depression, most studies investigating *COMT* do not account for gene-environment interactions (Antypa et al., 2013). Recent human association studies have provided evidence that having the Met/Met genotype in combination with having experienced a significant life stressor is associated with depression (Mandelli et al., 2006; Opmeer et al., 2010; Antypa et al., 2013). This gene-environment interaction suggests that the Val158Met polymorphism is implicated in increased sensitivity to stress, through modulation of the HPA axis, as the Met/Met genotype is associated with greater HPA reactivity (as indicated in salivary cortisol levels of individuals with the Met/Met genotype as compared to those with the Val/Met or Val/Val genotypes) and stress

sensitivity (Walder et al., 2010). This association of Met/Met genotype (in combination with stress) and increased vulnerability to depression is contrary to earlier findings which suggest that having the Met allele leads to decreased COMT activity, increased dopamine activity, and susceptibility to disorders such as schizophrenia (Lachman et al., 1996). Taken together, evidence thus far suggests that the Met allele might be a predictive factor for depression in combination with the presence of stressors (Antypa et al., 1996), but not as an independent predictor of depression.

Animal Models of Depression

In order to test for the effects of stress on COMT activity and vulnerability to depression across COMT genotype, the proposed study will utilize an animal model of depression. One reason for investigating this putative gene-environment interaction in animals arises from ethical and practical considerations, as genes cannot be manipulated in humans, nor can humans be randomly assigned to significant early life trauma. Animal models are a useful method for implementing genetic manipulation studies and for investigating gene-environment interactions. Studies involving genetic manipulation as well as environmental manipulation allow for greater investigation as to the neurological mechanisms of the disorder. In addition, being able to actively manipulate genotype in a rodent model of depression allows the investigator to control for potential confounding variables that would be present in a human association study sample, such as socioeconomic status, age, education level, health history, level of social support, and type and number of stressful events experienced. Finally, using genetically manipulated rodents will ensure that all of the experimental subjects are genetically identical except for the target gene. Thus differences across genotype can be attributed to the polymorphic variant in this type of rodent study, whereas if human subjects were involved, they would differ on a wide variety of genes and thus it would be hard to attribute outcome differences to the target genetic polymorphic variant.

As mentioned previously, in humans, symptoms of depression include depressed mood, anhedonia, changes in weight, sleeping patterns, and psychomotor function, loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness, impaired concentration, and recurrent thoughts of death (APA, 2013). Some of these symptoms can be studied in animals in order to investigate behavioral and neurophysiological changes and mechanisms associated with depression. Rodent models are a useful avenue for studying the neurobiological mechanisms of the disorder, however many of the above symptoms, particularly those relating to feelings of worthlessness, mood, and thoughts of death, are impossible to model on laboratory animals (Yan, et al., 2010). For this reason, specific behaviors associated with depression and behavioral symptoms of depression are modeled in animals.

While depressed mood cannot be modeled in animals, anhedonia, or lack of interest or pleasure in all or most activities (APA, 2013), can be targeted. Anhedonia in animals is demonstrated by decreased preference for sucrose or saccharin (Yan, et al., 2010). Anhedonia-like behavior in animals might be considered an endophenotype of depression, effectively acting as an intermediary phenotype or characteristic of the disorder (Antypa et al., 2013). To test anhedonia, animals are exposed to acute or chronic mild stress and their consumption of palatable sugar solutions are measured (Preti, 2011). Decreased consumption of the substance has been shown to result from chronic mild stress (Grippo, et al., 2003) and chronic social isolation (Grippo et al., 2007), and is understood to be representative of anhedonia, and thus depression.

21

Taken together, it is useful to study neurological mechanisms and behavioral aspects of depression in relation to the *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism in rodents. Firstly, due to ethical concerns, genes cannot be manipulated in humans and it may not be ethical to implement a chronic stress paradigm in humans as well. It certainly would not be ethical enroll human children in order to study the putative interaction between genetics and the effects of early life stress. Second, in order to control for a multitude of potential confounds and ensure that results occur as a result of the experimental manipulation alone, a rodent model is a more suitable method. Examining the effects of genotype and early life stress on behavioral and neurological aspects of depression can thus be done best by utilizing rodent samples.

Summary of Rationale and Hypotheses to be Tested

Depression is a serious, costly (WHO, 2015), and heterogeneous disorder (Duman, 2014; Malki, 2014) for which no one genetic determinant has been identified (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, 2013). Research has shown that stress (and subsequent HPA axis dysregulation) is a significant predicting factor of depression, (Colman and Ataullahjan, 2010; McEwen, 2002; Roy & Campbell, 2013) and one particular stressor that has been linked to vulnerability to depression and HPA axis dysregulation is early life trauma (Neigh et al., 2009; Briere and Jordan, 2009; Heim et al., 2008). Animal models are a useful way to look at models of depression and trauma and to begin to investigate geneenvironment interactions in neural mechanisms of depression.

Evidence suggests that depression develops as a result of the interaction between adverse environmental factors (stress) and genetic predisposition to vulnerability to stress (McGowan and Kato, 2008). Due to the heterogeneity and complexity of the disorder, it is likely that specific gene-environment interactions play a role in the development of depression, and dysregulation in multiple neurological pathways lead to depression (Sullivan et al., 2000). Dopamine may be a good candidate for alternate mechanistic hypotheses of depression, as it mediates movement, affect, emotion, cognition, and reward (Haenisch and Bonisch, 2011), and these processes are impaired or altered in depression. Further investigation of *COMT*, a gene responsible for catabolism of dopamine, may provide information on one specific mechanism in the etiology of depression. Interaction between *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met variants with specific environmental factors can potentially increase vulnerability to depression. More research in this vein is necessary because previous studies on COMT and depression have not been conclusive, nor do they account for gene-environment interactions (Antypa et al., 2013).

The present study aims to investigate the mechanisms of this relationship (COMT Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism X early life stress) in order to further understand this one particular putative route to depression. Specifically, the proposed experiment aims to investigate the effects of stress on COMT and dopamine function across different *COMT* genotypes in a rodent model. In the present study, I will examine the effects of stress on COMT and dopamine function, and a behavioral measure of depression (anhedonia). Based off of the findings from human association studies (Mandelli et al., 2006; Opmeer et al., 2010; Antypa et al., 2013), I hypothesize that stressed Met/Met *COMT* genotype rats will show greatest vulnerability to depression across all measures, and that nonstressed Met/Met *COMT* genotype rats will show the least vulnerability to depression across all measures. I predict that Val/Met COMT genotype rats will show an intermediary effect of the met allele X environment interaction.

Chapter 2: Method

Subjects

COMT variant breeder Wistar rats will be purchased from Charles River Genetically Engineered Model Services, Charles River, Kingston, NY. Subjects will be Wistar rats, because this strain has been used previously in research examining *COMT* expression and dopamine concentration (Schendzielorz et al., 2013). Rats pregnant with Val/Val pups (n=4), Val/Met pups (n=4), and Met/Met pups (n =4) will be housed singly in opaque polycarbonate birth cages (48 cm X 38 cm X 20 cm) lined with 4 cm of paper bedding in a temperature controlled room (22°C) with a twelve hour light/dark cycle (lights will be turned on at 8:00 AM), following the methods of Hancock and Grant, 2009. Food and water will be available to the pregnant rats as desired. Pregnant rats will be checked twice daily for parturition (at 9:00 AM and 5:00 PM). Day of birth will be considered postnatal day (PND) 0. *COMT* genotype will be confirmed in two pups from each litter, by isolating genomic DNA from a tail snip sample (<5mm) collected on PND1, followed by PCR-based allelic discrimination (TaqMan genotyping assay, Applied Biosystems, Irvine, CA).

Postnatal Treatment

Following the methods of Hancock and Grant (2009), on PND 1, each breeder rat will be removed from the birth cage and placed individually in a clear polycarbonate holding cage (45 cm X 24 cm X 20 cm) lined with 2 cm of paper bedding and given open access to food and water. Pups will be removed from the birth cage by a gloved experimenter and placed by litter in individual plastic, paper towel lined containers (26.5 cm X 18.5 cm X 11 cm). These containers will be placed in an incubator (in a room separate from that where the mother rats are housed) at 55%–58% humidity and nest-like temperatures of 33–34°C on PND 1 to 6 and 31–32°C on PND

7 to 14 (Hancock and Grant, 2009). On PND 1, each of the litters will be culled to 10 pups (5 males and 5 females). Half of total Val/Val, Val/Met, and Met/Met litters will be randomly assigned to the stress condition (n=60), and the other half of the litters will be assigned to the no stress (control) condition (n=60) (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Assignment of *COMT* gene variant rat pups to stress or no stress condition. Half of all litters are randomly assigned to undergo the stress paradigm and the other half are assigned to the control condition.

Maternal Separation Stress Paradigm

Following the stress paradigm implemented by Hancock and Grant (2009), rats designated to the stress condition will be separated from the mother for 3 hours per day on PND 1-14, from 10:00 AM to 1:00 PM and rats in the no-stress, control condition will be handled such that they are separated from their mothers for 15 minutes per day on PND 1-14, from 9:45 AM to 10:00 AM. The control condition ensures that any effects seen are due to the stressful experience of being separated from the mother, and not from the combined stressful experiences of being separated from the mother and being handled by experimenters. Following the handling or separation paradigm, each litter of pups will be returned to its birth cage and the mother will be returned to the birth cage as well. Litters will be left undisturbed from PND 15 through 20, and pups will be weaned on PND 21 (Hancock and Grant, 2009). Following weaning, pups will be housed in groups of three same sex and same genotype littermates in clear polycarbonate holding cages (45 cm X 24 cm X 20 cm) with open access to food and water. On PND 32, rats will be individually housed in order to implement the sucrose consumption test for anhedonia-like behavior.

Fecal Corticosterone Analysis

On PNDs 1 and 14 (i.e. before and after the stress/control paradigms), fecal matter will be collected from each litter's holding cage for examination of corticosterone levels. Fecal corticosterone will be assessed (rather than serum corticosterone) because it is a non-invasive measure that should not induce acute stress effects (Christiansen et al., 2012). It is important that the corticosterone measure itself is not stress-inducing, as otherwise corticosterone collection itself would increase corticosterone response. By examining fecal corticosterone, a non-invasive measure, the stress response (as indexed by fecal corticosterone metabolites) truly reflects the response to the experimental manipulation only. The samples will be analyzed for immunoreactive fecal corticosterone metabolites (FCM) using an a 5a-pregnane- 3b,11b,21-triol-20-one enzyme immunoassay (EIA) (Christiansen et al., 2012; Touma et al., 2003). This EIA method has been validated for use in rats (Lepschy et al., 2007). Fecal samples will be homogenized and samples of 0.25 g will be extracted with 5 ml of 80% methanol, and will be analyzed using thin layer chromatography on anti-rabbit-IgG-coated microtiter plates (Christiansen et al., 2012).

Sucrose Consumption Test

On PND 32, rats will undergo the sucrose consumption test, which is a behavioral measure of depression in the form of anhedonia-like behavior. A two bottle, overnight sucrose preference test will be given to all of the rats. Rats will be presented with a 1% sucrose solution bottle and a water bottle at 2:00 PM and the bottles will be removed the following morning at 8:00 AM (Remus et al., 2015). Sucrose solution and water levels will be recorded before and after the test, and a difference score will be recorded. Decreased sucrose consumption is associated with anhedonia-like behavior in rodents (Remus et al., 2015).

Tissue Collection and Dopamine Analysis via High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

Tissue collection and dopamine analysis will follow the methods used by Schendzielorz et al., (2013). On PND 33, rats will be anesthetized and their brains will be perfused with iced saline before decapitation and removal of the brain. Then brain tissue will be weighed, dissected and placed in plastic microfuge tubes, and frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C. Following the dissection methods of Schendzielorz et al., (2013), the brains will be dissected on an ice-cold glass plate. Both sides of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) will be cut from the front of the brain with a razor blade and discarded, and then a coronal cut of the brain will be made at the optic chiasm (-0.3mm). The hypothalamus will be extricated by "cutting its borders" (Schendzielorz et al., 2013) and it will be discarded. Finally, the striatum will be removed frontally from the cut based on its appearance with forceps (Schendzielorz et al., 2013). Each part will be snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis. Only the extricated striatum samples will be analyzed for dopamine concentration via high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Striatal levels of dopamine will be assessed using HPLC with electrochemical detection. Striatum samples will be homogenized 0.5 ml of homogenization solution (6 parts of 0.2 M HClO₄ and 1 part of antioxidant solution containing oxalic acid combined with acetic acid and Lcysteine). The homogenates will then be centrifuged at 20,800 *g* for 35 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatants will be placed in 9.5 ml filter concentrators and centrifuged at 8,600 *g* at 4°C for 35 minutes (Schendzielorz et al., 2013). Following tissue collection and homogenization, high performance liquid chromatography will be used in order to assess striatal dopamine levels. The column (Spherisorb ODS2 3uM, 4.6 X 100 mm²: Waters, Milford, MA, USA) will be heated to 50°C. The mobile phase will consist of a solvent of 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄ buffer, 350 mg/l of octane sulfonic acid, methanol (3-6.5%), and 450 mg/l EDTA, with a pH set to 2.7. The pump (ESA Model 582Solvent Delivery Module; ESA, Chelmsford, MA, USA) flow rate will be set to 1 ml/min. Sixty µl of the filtrate will be injected into the chromatographic system with a CMA/200 autoinjector (CMS, Stockholm, Sweden) (Schendzielorz et al., 2013).

Dopamine will be detected with the ESA CoulArray Electrode Array Detector, with voltages gradually increasing from +100 to +300 mV (Schendzielorz et al., 2013). Chromatograms will be processed and dopamine concentrations will be calculated using CoulArray for windows software, with dopamine expressed as nanograms per milligram (ng/mg) of wet weight tissue. According to Schendzielorz et al., 2013, the CoulArray detector is suitable for detection and analysis of all reducible monoamines, and thus will be able to detect the presence and amount of dopamine molecules as it leaves the column.



Figure 2. Timeline displaying experimental paradigm.

Research Design

The present study will examine the effects of stress on a neural correlate of depression and anhedonia-like behavior across *COMT* genotype in a 2 (stress vs no stress) x 3 (Met/Val vs Met/Met vs Val/Val) design. Data will be analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics Premium. **Preliminary analyses.** As a manipulation check, I will examine fecal corticosterone metabolite (FCM) levels (nanograms per gram of dried fecal mass of individual sample) before and following completion of the stress paradigm for rats of each *COMT* genotype. I expect that across *COMT* genotype, the stress paradigm will in fact produce a stress response, as indicated by increased corticosterone, which will be tested by one paired samples t-test and two unpaired samples t-tests as a manipulation check to test for differences in FCM between stressed versus nonstressed rats on PND 1 (before the intervention) and again on PND 14 (after the intervention), as well as testing for differences in FCM within stressed rats on PND 1 versus PND 14. For these three analyses, the independent variables are date of testing (pre-stress paradigm versus post stress paradigm), and the dependent variable is FCM. These preliminary tests serve to confirm that the stress versus control manipulations indeed had the effect they were intended to produce.

Main analyses. For the main analyses, the independent variables are stress condition (stress versus control) and *COMT* genotype (wild type Val/Val, heterozygous for variant Val/Met, homozygous for variant Met/Met). The behavioral dependent variable is the amount of sucrose solution consumed (mL) and the neurological dependent variable is the striatal dopamine concentration (nanograms per milligram [ng/mg] of wet weight tissue). I will conduct a 2 (stress vs. control) x 3 (Val/Val vs. Val/Met vs. Met/Met) ANOVA in order to assess the effects of stress condition and genotype on sucrose consumption. I will conduct a separate 2 (stress vs. control) x 3 (Val/Val vs. Val/Met vs. Met/Met) ANOVA in order to assess the effects of stress condition and genotype on sucrose consumption. I will conduct a separate 2 (stress vs. control) x 3 (Val/Val vs. Val/Met vs. Met/Met) ANOVA in order to assess the effects of stress condition and genotype on striatal dopamine concentration (ng/g of wet weight tissue). Finally, I will conduct a correlation analysis in order to examine the relationship between striatal dopamine levels and sucrose consumption (anhedonia-like behavior).

Chapter 3: Proposed Results

Preliminary Analyses: Fecal Corticosterone Metabolite Levels

I hypothesize that fecal corticosterone metabolite (FCM) levels will be the same for rats in the stress condition and rats in the control condition before commencement of the stress paradigm. I expect that an unpaired t-test of FCM in stressed and control rats on PND 1 will demonstrate that no difference in FCM exists between groups before experimental manipulation (see Figure 4). In addition, I expect that an unpaired t-test will demonstrate that FCM levels differ between stressed rats and control rats at the end of the paradigm, on PND 14 (see Figure 5). In other words, I expect to find evidence from this t-test showing that the stress paradigm as compared to the control condition produces differing levels of FCM in rats in these respective conditions. Finally, I expect that a paired samples t-test comparing rats in the stress paradigm, such that the stressed rats show increased levels of FCM at the end of the stress paradigm than at the beginning of the stress paradigm (see Figure 6).



Figure 4. Results of unpaired t-test demonstrate that on PND 1 before the beginning of the stress or control paradigms, there is no difference in fecal corticosterone metabolite (FCM) across groups.



Figure 5. Results of unpaired t-test demonstrate that on PND 14, following completion of the stress or control paradigms, stressed rats have significantly increased fecal corticosterone metabolite (FCM) as compared to nonstressed rats.



Figure 6. Results of paired t-test demonstrate that within stressed rats, fecal corticosterone metabolite (FCM) is significantly higher on PND 14, following completion of the stress paradigm, as compared to PND 1, before beginning the stress paradigm.

Anhedonia

I expect a 2 (stress vs. control) x 3 (Val/Val vs. Val/Met vs. Met/Met) ANOVA to reveal a main effect of stress, such that stressed rats consumed less sucrose solution as compared to nonstressed rats, and a stress x genotype interaction on sucrose consumption (anhedonia-like behavior), such that the effects of stress on sucrose consumption depend on genotype, as demonstrated in Figure 7. I do not expect to find a main effect of genotype. I expect planned comparisons to reveal that among stressed rats, Met/Met rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, displaying the most anhedonic behavior, Val/Val rats consumed the greatest amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Met rats consumed an intermediate amount of sucrose solution, Val/Val rats consumed the least the greatest amoung of sucrose solution, Val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Met rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and Val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Val rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Wat rats consumed the least amount of sucrose solution, and val/Met rats consumed an intermediate amount of sucrose solution. These results suggest that stress impacted rats differentially based on genotype, leading to differences in sucrose consumption among stressed versus nonstressed rats across genotype.



Figure 7. ANOVA results demonstrating the effects of stress and genotype on sucrose consumption. Decreased sucrose consumption indicates anhedonia-like behavior, a central tenet

of depression. Results demonstrate a main effect of stress and a stress x genotype interaction, such that stressed Met/Met rats consumed the lowest amount of sucrose solution, displaying greatest anhedonia-like behavior.

Striatal Dopamine Concentration

Similar to the behavioral results, I expect a 2 (stress vs. control) x 3 (Val/Val vs. Val/Met vs. Met/Met) ANOVA to reveal a main effect of stress, such that stressed rats display lower striatal dopamine concentrations as compared to nonstressed rats, and a stress x genotype interaction on striatal dopamine concentration, such that the effects of stress striatal dopamine concentration depend on genotype, as depicted in Figure 8. I do not expect to find a main effect of *COMT* genotype. I expect planned comparisons to reveal that among stressed rats, Met/Met rats demonstrated the lowest striatal dopamine concentrations, Val/Val rats demonstrated the highest striatal dopamine concentrations, and Val/Met rats displayed intermediate striatal dopamine concentrations, Val/Val rats displayed the lowest striatal dopamine concentrations, These results suggest that stress impacted rats differentially based on genotype, leading to differences in striatal dopamine concentrations among stressed versus nonstressed rats across genotype.



Figure 8. ANOVA results demonstrating the effects of stress and genotype on dopamine concentration in rat striatum. Results demonstrate a main effect of stress and a stress x genotype interaction, such that stressed Met/Met rats display the lowest total prefrontal and striatal dopamine concentration.

Correlation

I expect to find a positive correlation between sucrose consumption and dopamine levels, such that increased dopamine is associated with increased sucrose consumption (decreased anhedonia), as demonstrated in Figure 9. This result would provide some evidence that decreased dopamine is associated with anhedonia-like behavior, which can be considered an endophenotype of depression.



Figure 9. Sucrose consumption is positively correlated with dopamine concentration, such that higher dopamine levels are associated with increased sucrose consumption. Decreased dopamine is associated with decreased sucrose consumption, which is indicative of anhedonia.

Chapter 4: Discussion

The aim of the present study was to investigate the role of one gene x environment interaction in depression. Specifically, the present study aimed to examine the effects of stress on striatal dopamine concentrations and anhedonia as they relate to depression via the *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism. I compared the effects of stress manipulation versus control handling on anhedonia and striatal dopamine concentration across different *COMT* genotypes (Val/Val, Val/Met, Met/Met) in a rodent model. I hypothesized that stressed Met/Met *COMT* genotype rats would demonstrate the lowest striatal dopamine concentrations and highest levels of anhedonialike behavior, and thus the greatest vulnerability to depression, based off of recent findings from human association studies (Mandelli et al., 2006; Opmeer et al., 2010; Antypa et al., 2013). I also hypothesized that striatal dopamine concentration would be positively correlated with sucrose consumption, such that higher dopamine levels are associated with increased sucrose consumption, and decreased dopamine is associated with decreased sucrose consumption, or anhedonia-like behavior. Taken together, the proposed behavioral, neurological, and correlational results support these hypotheses.

The proposed behavioral results clarify and resolve conflicting and contradictory evidence (Antypa et al., 2013; Lachman et al., 1996; Opmeer et al., 2010; Mandelli et al., 2006) on which *COMT* genotype confers the greatest vulnerability to depression by indicating that the effects of stress depend on *COMT* genotype to predict sucrose consumption/anhedonia-like behavior. Results of the sucrose consumption test revealed that there was a main effect of stress and a genotype x stress interaction. In terms of the main effect of stress, collapsing across genotype, nonstressed rats consumed significantly more sucrose solution, as compared to stressed rats. In other words, the effects of stress triggered anhedonia-like behavior. These findings are consistent with previous findings demonstrating that stress leads to anhedonia (Bogdan and Pizzagalli, 2006; Enkel et al., 2010).

The interaction results suggest that the nonstressed Met/Met rats consumed the greatest amount of sucrose solution, displaying the lowest anhedonia-like behavior, while the stressed Met/Met rats consumed the lowest amount of sucrose solution, displaying the greatest anhedonia-like behavior. In other words, in the absence of stress, the Met/Met genotype seems to be protective against anhedonia, but in the presence of stress, the Met/Met genotype confers significant vulnerability to anhedonia. These behavioral results are consistent with previous research demonstrating that the Met allele is more reactive to stressors (Opmeer et al., 2010, Mandelli et al., 2006), and thus the "the met-allele genotype could enhance predisposition to MDD by altering the reactivity to stressors," (Opmeer et al., 2010). For example, a recent study demonstrated that Met/Met participants exhibit heightened cortisol reactivity and impaired recovery after a stressful task (Alexander et al., 2011). Therefore, these results are in accordance with previous research that shows that the Met/Met genotype interacts uniquely with stress to lead to enhanced vulnerability to depression.

The proposed neurological results further clarify and resolve conflicting and contradictory evidence (Antypa et al., 2013; Lachman et al., 1996; Opmeer et al., 2010; Mandelli et al., 2006) on which *COMT* genotype confers the greatest vulnerability to depression by indicating that the effects of stress depend on *COMT* genotype to predict striatal dopamine concentration (see Figure 10). Results concerning striatal dopamine analysis via HPLC revealed that there was a main effect of stress and a genotype x stress interaction. In terms of the main effect of stress, collapsing across genotype, nonstressed rats exhibited significantly greater striatal dopamine concentrations, as compared to stressed rats. This finding is in accordance with

findings that suggest that both chronic and acute stress lead to decreased striatal dopamine concentrations (Hu et al., 2014).

The interaction results suggest that overall, the nonstressed Met/Met rats exhibited the greatest striatal dopamine concentrations, while the stressed Met/Met rats exhibited the lowest striatal dopamine concentrations. Similar to the behavioral results, this genotype x stress interaction indicates that in the absence of stress, the Met/Met genotype seems to be protective against depression, but in the presence of stress, the Met/Met genotype confers significant vulnerability to depression, via dopaminergic processes. Again, these neurological results are consistent with previous research demonstrating that the Met allele is more reactive to stressors (Opmeer et al., 2010, Mandelli et al., 2006; Walder et al., 2010), and are in accordance with evidence that the dopaminergic system is sensitive to stress (Pani et al., 2000) and, specifically, that dopamine concentration in the striatum is sensitive to stress (Hu et al., 2014). One way stress could enhance vulnerability to depression is through the influence of stress on the more highly stress-reactive dopaminergic system in individuals with the met allele (Opmeer et al., 2010; Alexander et al., 2011). It is possible that stress causes upregulation of COMT in met allele carriers, leading to increased dopamine catabolism and decreased striatal dopamine concentrations; however future research is necessary in order to examine COMT activity directly in regards to this question.



Figure 10. Hypothesized mechanistic relationship underlying stress x genotype interaction. Stress leads to HPA dysregulation and potentially *COMT* upregulation to result in decreased striatal dopamine concentration and decreased sucrose consumption (anhedonia), with the greatest reductions in striatal dopamine and sucrose consumption among those with the Met/Met genotype.

The proposed correlational results indicate that sucrose consumption and striatal dopamine concentration are positively correlated, such that increased dopamine is associated with increased sucrose consumption (decreased anhedonia), and decreased dopamine is associated with decreased sucrose consumption (anhedonia). These proposed results provide some evidence that decreased dopamine is associated with anhedonia-like behavior, which can be considered an endophenotype of depression (Antypa et al., 2013). Furthermore, these results support the findings that dopamine function underlies processes associated with anhedonia (Argyropoulos and Nutt, 2013).

One limitation of the proposed study is that random assignment to stress condition was done by litter instead of completely randomly- by individual rat pup. This method of random assignment leaves open the possibility that extreme between litter variance could interfere with the results (between group differences). However, random assignment by litter was necessary for the present study in order to perform the maternal separation paradigm as outlined by Hancock and Grant (2009). In this paradigm, following daily periods of separation, litters were placed back with their mothers, as the stress paradigm begins when the rats are one day old and need to be with the mothers in order to feed. Future research might implement different types of stress paradigms focused on later periods of development, in which rats can individually be randomly assigned to stress condition.

Future research might also further investigate mechanistic pathways implicated in depression with regards to dopamine, as the present study did not investigate the specific dopamine pathways or mechanistic functions through which stress might modulate COMT activity in regards to specific *COMT* genotypes. For example, one proposed dopamine pathway involved in depression concerns mesolimbic dopaminergic projections from the ventral tegmental area to the nucleus accumbens and the medial prefrontal cortex (Antypa et al., 2013). This pathway is said to play a role in learning and reward (Antypa, 2013), and thus dysregulation in this pathway may play a role in anhedonia and reduction in motivation, common symptoms of depression (Nestler and Carlezon, 2006).

Other proposed pathways that may be implicated in depression are the limbic-corticalstriatal-pallidal-thalamic circuit (LCSPT) (Hamon and Blier, 2013; Drevets et al., 2008) and a prefrontal-limbic network that is modulated by the hypothalamus, basal ganglia, and midbrain has also been proposed (Bennett, 2011). The LCSPT pathway connects the orbital prefrontal cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, ventromedial striatum, mediodorsal and midline thalamic nuclei, and ventral pallidum (Hamon and Blier, 2013; Drevets et al., 2008). This system has been implicated in fear, anxiety, self-reference, visceral response, and reward (Hamon and Blier, 2013; Price and Drevets, 2012). The prefrontal limbic network includes the anterior cingulate cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus as part of an interconnected prefrontal and limbic network that is dysregulated in depression (Bennett, 2011). It remains to be investigated whether upregulation of COMT in Met/Met individuals in response to stress may impact dopamine concentrations and signaling via these pathways, influencing anhedonia.

Furthermore, it is possible that gene x gene interactions exist that would further elucidate the relationship between stress, COMT, and depression (Antypa et al., 2013). In such an instance, multiple polymorphic variations might interact to increase vulnerability to depression. For example, Jabbi et al., (2007) demonstrated an interaction between polymorphic variations in genes coding for COMT and monoamine oxidase A (MAOA). This COMT by MAOA interaction influences HPA axis activity, as indexed by plasma adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) stress response, in response to acute stress (Jabbi et al., 2007). This study provides evidence that the *COMT* met allele genotype interacts with the low activity *MAOA* genotype in order to alter the stress response. Gene-gene interactions might further explain heterogeneity in depression and contribute to our understanding of the diverse etiology of depression. Future research should examine potential gene-gene interactions in depression, and specifically concerning *COMT* gene variants.

Finally, the present study does not examine the potential role of epigenetics in modulation of *COMT* in conferring vulnerability to depression. Epigenetic changes in gene expression occur through the activation of chromatin, by acetylation and methylation of histones (Porcelli et al., 2011). Gene expression via epigenetic factors is controlled either by chemically altering the DNA (adding a methyl group, or methylation) or when histones, the proteins that pack DNA into chromatin, are modified (Qiu, 2006). Histones determine whether, "the chromatin is tightly packed, in which case gene expression is shut down (or silenced), or relaxed, in which case gene expression is active" (Qiu, 2006). Future research should investigate the potential that early life stress combined with the Met allele variant of *COMT* may increase vulnerability to depression via epigenetic modification of COMT and subsequent changes to dopamine catabolism and activity in prefrontal and limbic areas.

Taken together, the proposed results of the present experiment contribute to and clarify our understanding of one mechanistic route to depression, possibly explaining some of the heterogeneity in the etiology of depression. These results suggest that effects of early life stress on anhedonia and striatal dopamine concentrations depends on variation in *COMT*, such that stress interacts with the Met/Met genotype to confer greatest vulnerability to depression. This is seen in stressed Met/Met rats, which are expected to exhibit the lowest sucrose solution consumption (greatest anhedonia-like behavior) and the lowest striatal dopamine concentrations. The results of the correlation analysis also provide support for the notion that sucrose consumption and dopamine concentration are positively related, and diminished dopamine levels may be implicated in anhedonia. Overall, these results highlight the role of dopamine and COMT in depression, suggesting that stress interacts with *COMT* gene variants to modulate dopamine activity, conferring vulnerability to depression.

These hypothesized results may have significant implications in terms of prevention and treatment of depression in individuals with one or more copies of the Met allele, as these results indicate that individuals with the Met allele, following early life trauma, are at an increased vulnerability to developing depression. Further research is warranted in order to investigate mechanistic pathways involved in the relationship between stress, the functional *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism, and depression, and in order to research potential forms of

psychotherapeutic treatment aimed at downregulating COMT for instance, or increasing extracellular dopamine by other mechanisms.

As "anhedonia may serve as an important prognostic tool for identifying youth who may be at risk for a poorer or delayed recovery" (McMakin et al., 2012), anhedonia can be considered as an endophenotype of depression that should be treated in a different manner than just SSRIs because it is related to dopamine dysfunction (Nestler and Carlezon, 2006). Because anhedonia has been shown to predict poorer recovery among adolescents with SSRI treatment-resistant depression (McMakin et al., 2012; Uher et al., 2012), it may be beneficial to investigate the anhedonia and the functional *COMT* Val¹⁵⁸Met polymorphism in relation to treatment outcomes. As the present proposed results suggest that early life trauma, and presence of the COMT Val158Met polymorphism predict increased anhedonia and decreased dopamine concentrations, it is possible that the this polymorphism predicts worse treatment outcomes with SSRI antidepressants. In other words, these hypothesized findings suggest that dopamine dysfunction, *COMT* Met/Met genotype, and early life stress not only increase vulnerability to depression and increased depression symptoms, but that this "type" of depression may warrant a different type of treatment, with drugs that target dopamine. Future research should investigate treatment response to a variety of antidepressant treatments in a rodent study or in a human study with *COMT* Val158Met polymorphism, depression, and early life stress.

Conclusion

The proposed behavioral results clarify and resolve conflicting and contradictory evidence (Antypa et al., 2013; Lachman et al., 1996; Opmeer et al., 2010; Mandelli et al., 2006) on which *COMT* genotype confers the greatest vulnerability to depression by indicating that the effects of stress depend on *COMT* genotype to predict sucrose consumption/anhedonia-like behavior. Although any animal model is an imperfect representation of the human condition and should be interpreted with caution, the hypothesized results of the proposed experiment shed light on the underlying mechanisms of depression induced by early life trauma. Specifically, the proposed results suggest that early life stress leads to HPA axis dysregulation that is modulated by *COMT* genotype to influence relative decreases in striatal dopamine concentration and sucrose consumption (see Figure 10). The hypothesized results suggest that the negative effects of early life stress are most pronounced for the *COMT* Met/Met genotype, which shows the greatest decreases in striatal dopamine concentration and sucrose consumption, as compared to the Val/Met and Val/Val genotypes. The negative effects of early life stress on striatal dopamine concentration and sucrose consumption are least pronounced for the Val/Val genotype. Taken together, the proposed results suggest that the interaction between early life trauma and the *COMT* Met/Met genotype confers the greatest vulnerability to developing depression with anhedonia symptoms.

References

- Aberg, E., Fandiño-Losada, A., Sjoholm, L. K., Forsell, Y., & Lavebratt, C. (2011). The functional Val158Met polymorphism in catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) is associated with depression and motivation in men from a Swedish population-based study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *129*, 158-166.
- Alexander, N., Osinsky, R., Mueller, E., Schmitz, A., Guenthert, S., Kuepper, Y., & Hennig, J. (2011). Genetic variants within the dopaminergic system interact to modulate endocrine stress reactivity and recovery. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 216, 53-58.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th., text rev. ed.). Washington, DC.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Antypa, N., Drago, A., & Serretti, A. (2013). The role of COMT gene variants in depression:
 Bridging neuropsychological, behavioral and clinical phenotypes. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37, 1597-1610.
- Argyropoulos, S. V., & Nutt, D. J. (2013). Anhedonia revisited: Is there a role for dopaminetargeting drugs for depression? *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *27*(10), 869-877.
- Baghai, T. C., Blier, P., Baldwin, D. S., Bauer, M., Goodwin, G. M., Fountoulakis, K. N.,
 Leonard, B. E., Malt, U. F., Stein, D., Versiani, M., Moller, H., World Psychiatric
 Association. (2011). General and comparative efficacy and effectiveness of
 antidepressants in the acute treatment of depressive disorders: a report by the WPA
 section of pharmacopsychiatry. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 261(3), S207-S245.

- Bandelow, B., Gutermann, J., Peter, H., & Wedekind, D. (2013). Early traumatic life events, parental attitudes, family history, and birth risk factors in patients with depressive disorder and healthy controls. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*, *17*, 56-63.
- Banducci, A. N., Gomes, M., MacPherson, L., Lejuez, C. W., Potenza, M. N., Gelernter, J., & Amstadter, A. B. (2014). A preliminary examination of the relationship between the 5-HTTLPR and childhood emotional abuse on depressive symptoms in 10-12-year-old youth. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 6(1), 1-7.
- Bennett, M. R. (2011). The prefrontal-limbic network in depression: Modulation by hypothalamus, basal ganglia and midbrain. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *93*, 468-487.
- Berridge, K. C. (2007). The debate over dopamine's role in reward: the case for incentive salience. *Psychopharmacology*, *191*, 391-431.
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (1998). What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? *Brain Research Reviews*, 28, 309-369.
- Bogdan, R., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2006). Acute stress reduces reward responsiveness: Implications for depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *60*, 1147-1154.
- Briere, J., & Jordan, C. E. (2009). Childhood maltreatment, intervening variables, and adult psychological difficulties in women. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(4), 375-388.
- Carlyle, B. C., Duque, A., Kitchen, R. R., Bordner, K. A., Coman, D., Doolittle, E., . . . Simen,
 A. A. (2012). Maternal separation with early weaning: A rodent model providing novel insights into neglect associated developmental deficits. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24, 1401-1416.

- Chapman, D. P., & Perry, G. S. (2008). Depression as a major component of public health for older adults. *Preventing Chronic Disease: Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy*, 5(1).
- Charles River Genetically Engineered Model Services. (n.d.). Genetically engineered model services. Retrieved March 13, 2016, from http://www.criver.com/products-services/basicresearch/transgenic-colony-services/contract-breedingaging?gclid=CI2QkeTMn8sCFcGPHwodBVQGXQ
- Chocyk, A., Bobula, B., Dudys, D., Przyborowska, A., Majcher-Maslanka, I., Hess, G., &
 Wedzony, K. (2013). Early-life stress affects the structural and functional plasticity of the medial prefrontal cortex in adolescent rats. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *38*, 2089-2107.
- Christiansen, S., Bouzinova, E. V., Palme, R., & Wiborg, O. (2012). Circadian activity of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis is differentially affected in the rat chronic mild stress model of depression. *Stress*, 15(6), 647-657.
- Colman, I., & Ataullahjan, A. (2010). Life course perspectives on the epidemiology of depression. *La Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie*, *55*(10), 622-632.
- Drevets, W.C., Price, J.L., & Furey, M.L. (2008). Brain structural and functional abnormalities in mood disorders: Implications for neurocircuitry models of depression. *Brain Struct Funct*, 213, 93-118.
- Duman, R. S. (2014). Neurobiology of stress, depression, and rapid acting antidepressants: Remodeling synaptic connections. *Depression and Anxiety*, *31*, 291-296.
- Enkel, T., Spanagel, R., Vollmayr, B., & Schneider, M. (2010). Stress triggers anhedonia in rats bred for learned helplessness. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 209, 183-186.

- George, E. D., Bordner, K. A., Elwafi, H. M., & Simen, A. A. (2010). Maternal separation with early weaning: A novel mouse model of early life neglect. *BioMed Central*, *11*(123).
- Grippo, A. J., Beltz, T. G., & Johnson, A. K. (2003). Behavioral and cardiovascular changes in the chronic mild stress model of depression. *Physiology and Behavior*, 78(4-5), 703-710.
- Grippo, A. J., Cushing, B. S., & Carter, C. S. (2007). Depression-like behavior and stressorinduced neuroendocrine activation in female prairie voles exposed to chronic social isolation. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69(2), 149-157.
- Guerry, J. D., & Hastings, P. D. (2011). In search of HPA axis dysregulation in child and adolescent depression. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *14*, 135-160.
- Haenisch, B., & Bonisch, H. (2011). Depression and antidepressants: Insights from knockout of dopamine, serotonin, or noradrenaline re-uptake transporters. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 129, 352-368.
- Hamon, M., & Blier, P. (2013). Monoamine neurocircuitry in depression and strategies for new treatments. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 45, 54-63.
- Hancock, S., & Grant, V. (2009). Early maternal separation increases symptoms of activitybased anorexia in male and female rats. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 35(3), 394-406.
- Heim, C., Newport, D. J., Mletzko, T., Miller, A. H., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2008). The link between childhood trauma and depression: Insights from HPA axis studies in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 33(6), 693-710.
- Henningsen, K., Dyrvig, M., Bouzinova, E. V., Christiansen, S., Christensen, T., Andreasen, J.T., . . . Wiborg, O. (2012). Low maternal care exacerbates adult stress susceptibility in

the chronic mild stress rat model of depression. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *23*(8), 735-743.

- Holz, N. E., Buchmann, A. F., Boecker, R., Blomeyer, D., Baumeister, S., Wolf, I., . . . Laucht, M. (2015). Role of FKBP5 in emotion processing: Results on amygdala activity, connectivity, and volume. *Brain Structure & Function*, 220, 1355-1368.
- Horovitz, O., Tsoory, M. M., Hall, J., Jacobson-Pick, S., & Richter-Levin, G. (2012). Postweaning to pre-pubertal ('juvenile') stress: A model of induced predisposition to stressrelated disorders. *Neuroendocrinology*, 95, 56-64.
- Hovens, J. G., Wiersma, J. E., Giltay, E. J., van Oppen, P., Spinhoven, P., Penninx, B. W., & Zitman, F. G. (2010). Childhood life events and childhood trauma in adult patients with depressive, anxiety and comorbid disorders vs. controls. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *122*, 66-74.
- Hu, L., Yang, J., Song, T., Hou, N., Liu, Y., Zhao, X., . . . Huang, C. (2014). A new stress model, a scream sound, alters learning and monoamine levels in rat brain. *Physiology and Behavior*, 123, 105-113.
- Jabbi, M., Korf, J., Kema, I. P., Hartman, C., van der Pompe, G., Minderaa, R. B., . . . den Boer,
 J. A. (2007). Convergent genetic modulation of the endocrine stress response involves
 polymorphic variations of 5-HTT, COMT, and MAOA. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *12*, 483-490.
- Knorr, U., Vinberg, M., Kessing, L. V., & Wetterslev, J. (2010). Salivary cortisol in depressed patients versus control persons: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35, 1275-1286.

- Korgaonkar, M. S., Antees, C., Williams, L. M., Gatt, J. M., Bryant, R. A., Cohen, R., . . . Grieve, S. M. (2013). Early exposure to traumatic stressors impairs emotional brain circuitry. *PLOS One*, 8(9).
- Lachman, H. M., Papolos, D. F., Saito, T., Yu, Y.-M., Szumlanski, C. L., & Weinshilboum, R.
 M. (1996). Human catechol-O-methyltransferase pharmacogenetics: Description of a functional polymorphism and its potential application to neuropsychiatric disorders. *Pharmacogenetics*, *6*, 243-250.
- Lee, R. S., & Sawa, A. (2014). Environmental stressors and epigenetic control of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Neuroendocrinology*, *100*, 278-287.
- Lepschy, M., Touma, C., Hruby, R., & Palme, R. (2007). Non-invasive measurement of adrenocortical activity in male and female rats. *Laboratory Animals*, *41*(3), 372-387.
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour, and cognition. *Nature Reviews*, *10*, 434-445.
- Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium. (2013). A mega-analysis of genome-wide association studies for major depressive disorder.
 Molecular Psychiatry, 18, 497-511.
- Malki, K., Keers, R., Tosto, M. G., Lourdusamy, A., Carboni, L., Domenici, E., . . . Schalkwyk,
 L. C. (2014). The endogenous and reactive depression subtypes revisited: Integrative animal and human studies implicate multiple distinct molecular mechanisms underlying major depressive disorder. *BioMed Central*, 12(73).
- Mandelli, L., Serretti, A., Marino, E., Pirovano, A., Calati, R., & Colombo, C. (2006). Interaction between serotonin transporter gene, catechol-O-methyltransferase gene and stressful life

events in mood disorders. International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology, 10(4), 437-447.

- McEwen, B. S., Eiland, L., Hunter, R. G., & Miller, M. M. (2012). Stress and anxiety: Structural plasticity and epigenetic regulation as a consequence of stress. *Neuropharmacology*, 62, 3-12.
- McEwen, B. S., & Lasley, E. (2002). *The end of stress as we know it*. Washington, DC: Joseph Henry Press.
- McMakin, D. L., Olino, T. M., Porta, G., Dietz, L. J., Emslie, G., Clarke, G., Wagner, K. D.,
 Asarnow, J. R., Ryan, N. D., Birmaher, B., Shamseddeen, W., Mayes, T., Kennard, B.,
 Spirito, A., Keller, M., Lynch, F. L., Dickerson, J. F., & Brent, D. A. (2012). Anhedonia
 predicts poorer recovery among youth with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
 treatment-resistant depression. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*(*4*), 404-411.
- Morris, M. C., Kouros, C. D., Fox, K. R., Rao, U., & Garber, J. (2014). Interactive models of depression vulnerability: The role of childhood trauma, dysfunctional attitudes, and coping. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 53, 245-263.
- Mulinari, S. (2012). Monoamine theories of depression: Historical impact on biomedical research. *Journal of the History of the Neurosciences*, *21*, 366-392.
- Murgatroyd, C., & Spengler, D. (2011). Epigenetic programming of the HPA axis: Early life decides. *The International Journal on the Biology of Stress*, *14*(6), 581-589.
- Neigh, G. N., Gillespie, C. F., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2009). The neurobiological toll of child abuse and neglect. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(4), 389-410.

- Nestler, E. J., & Carlezon, W. A., Jr. (2006). The mesolimbic dopamine reward circuit in depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *59*, 1151-1159.
- Norrholm, S. D., Jovanovic, T., Smith, A. K., Binder, E., Klengel, T., Conneely, K., . . . Ressler,
 K. J. (2013). Differential genetic and epigenetic regulation of catechol-Omethyltransferase is associated with impaired fear inhibition in posttraumatic stress
 disorder. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 7(30).
- Opmeer, E. M., Kortekaas, R., & Aleman, A. (2010). Depression and the role of genes involved in dopamine metabolism and signalling. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *92*(2), 112-133.
- Pani, L., Porcella, A., & Gessa, G. L. (2000). The role of stress in the pathophysiology of the dopaminergic system. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 5, 14-21.
- Penninx, B. W., Milaneschi, Y., Lamers, F., & Vogelzangs, N. (2013). Understanding the somatic consequences of depression: Biological mechanisms and the role of depression symptom profile. *BMC Medicine*, 11(129).
- Porcelli, S., Drago, A., Fabbri, C., & Serretti, A. (2011). Mechanisms of antidepressant action: An integrated dopaminergic perspective. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 35, 1532-1543.
- Preti, A. (2011). Animal model and neurobiology of suicide. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 35, 818-830.
- Price, J. L., & Drevets, W. C. (2012). Neural circuitry underlying the pathophysiology of mood disorders. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 16(1), 61-71.
- Qiu, J. (2006). Epigenetics: Unfinished symphony. Nature, 441, 143-145.

- Read, J., van Os, J., Morrison, A. P., & Ross, C. A. (2005). Childhood trauma, psychosis and schizophrenia: a literature review with theoretical and clinical implications. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 112(5), 330-350.
- Remus, J. L., Stewart, L. T., Camp, R. M., Novak, C. M., & Johnson, J. D. (2015). Interaction of metabolic stress with chronic mild stress in altering brain cytokines and sucrose preference. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 129(3), 321-330.
- Rost, K. (2009). Disability from depression: The public health challenge to primary care. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 63(1), 17-21.
- Roy, A., & Campbell, M. K. (2013). A unifying framework for depression: Bridging the major biological and psychosocial theories through stress. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine*, 36(4), 170-190.
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Farrar, A., & Mingote, S. M. (2007). Effort-related functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine and associated forebrain circuits. *Psychopharmacology*, 191, 461-482.
- Sarchiapone, M., Carli, V., Camardese, G., Cuomo, C., Di Giuda, D., Calcagni, M-L., Focacci,
 C., De Risio, S. (2006). Dopamine transporter binding in depressed patients with
 anhedonia. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 147, 243-248.
- Schendzielorz, N., Oinas, J.-P., Myohanen, T. T., Reenila, I., Raasmaja, A., & Mannisto, P. T.
 (2013). Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) protein expression and activity after
 dopaminergic and noradrenergic lesions of the rat brain. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4).
- Seaward, B. L. (2013). Physiology of stress. In B. L. Seaward (Author), *Managing stress: Principles and strategies for health and well-being* (8th ed., pp. 34-48). Jones & Bartlett Learning.

- Shapero, G. G., Black, S. K., Liu, R. T., Klugman, J., Bender, R. E., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy,
 L. B. (2014). Stressful life events and depression symptoms: The effect of childhood emotional abuse on stress reactivity. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 70(3), 209-223.
- Sharot, T., Shiner, T., Brown, A. C., Fan, J., & Dolan, R. J. (2009). Dopamine enhances expectation of pleasure in humans. *Current Biology*, *19*, 2077-2080.
- Shorter, E. (2009). *Before Prozac: The troubled history of mood disorders in psychiatry*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Sinyor, M., Schaffer, A., & Levitt, A. (2010). The sequenced treatment alternatives to relieve depression (STAR*D) trial: A review. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 55(3), 126-135.
- Stephens, M. A., & Wand, G. (2012). Stress and the HPA axis: Role of glucocorticoids in alcohol dependence. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 34(4), 468-483.
- Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major depression: Review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(10), 1552-1562.
- Tarullo, A. R., & Gunnar, M. R. (2006). Child maltreatment and the developing HPA axis. *Hormones and Behavior*, 50, 632-639.
- Touma, C., Sachser, N., Mostl, E., & Palme, R. (2003). Effects of sex and time of day on metabolism and excretion of corticosterone in urine and feces of mice. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 130, 267-278.
- Tsoory, M., Guterman, A., & Richter-Levin, G. (2008). Exposure to stress during juvenility disrupts development-related alterations in the PSA-NCAM expression ratio: Potential relevance for mood and anxiety disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *33*, 378-393.

Uher, R., Perlis, R. H., Henigsberg, N., Zobel, A., Rietschel, M., Mors, O., Hauser, J.,
Dernovsek, M. Z., Souery, D., Bajs, M., Maier, W., Aitchison, K. J., Farmer, A., &
McGuffin, P. (2012). Depression symptom dimensions as predictors of antidepressant
treatment outcome: replicable evidence for interest-activity symptoms. *Psychological Medicine*, 42, 967- 980.

The University of Iowa Office of Animal Resources Institutional Animal Care and Use
 Committee. (2015, April 14). IACUC policy: Rodent tail snipping for genotyping.
 Retrieved April 29, 2016, from http://animal.research.uiowa.edu/iacuc-policy-rodent-tail-snipping-genotyping

- Vinkers, C. H., Joels, M., Milaneschi, Y., Kahn, R. S., Penninx, B. W., & Boks, M. P.M. (2014). Stress exposure across the life span cumulatively increases depression risk and is moderated by neuroticism. *Depression and Anxiety*, *31*, 737-745.
- Walder, D. J., Trotman, H. D., Cubells, J. F., Brasfield, J., Tang, Y.-L., & Walker, E. F. (2010). Catechol-O-methyltransferase modulation of cortisol secretion in psychiatrically at-risk and healthy adolescents. *Psychiatric Genetics*, 20, 166-170.
- Waters. (n.d.). Spherisorb ODS2 Column, 80Å, 3 µm, 4.6 mm X 100 mm, 1/pkg [PSS832112]. Retrieved March 13, 2016, from

http://www.waters.com/waters/partDetail.htm?partNumber=PSS832112&locale=en_US

- World Health Organization. (2013). *Mental health action plan 2013- 2020*. Geneva, Switzerland:WHO Press.
- World Health Organization. (2015, October). Depression. Retrieved October 14, 2015, from who.int website: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/en/

Yan, H.-C., Cao, X., Das, M., Zhu, X.-H., & Gao, T.-M. (2010). Behavioral animal models of depression. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 26(4), 327-337.

Appendix A

Proposal for Submission to the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) i. Statement of Purpose

The proposed study aims to test the interaction between early life stress and *COMT* genotype on striatal dopamine concentration and the development of anhedonia in a rat model of depression. The present study aims to clarify and resolve conflicting and contradictory evidence (Antypa et al., 2013; Lachman et al., 1996; Opmeer et al., 2010; Mandelli et al., 2006) on which *COMT* genotype confers the greatest vulnerability to depression.

ii. Benefit

Results of the proposed experiment will allow for better understanding of one geneenvironment interaction as it relates to the development of depression. These results could have implications for treatment of depression in individuals at greater risk for developing the disorder.

iii. Why Rats? (not a lower phylogenic class..)

Genetic manipulation of rats allows for the isolation of specific genetic variants in an otherwise isogenic background. Complex phenotypes like depression can be studied in rats, using validated behavioral tests probing specific components of depression, such as anhedonia, that map onto human symptoms. These outcome measures cannot be studied in lower phylogenetic classes.

iv. Ethical treatment in Animal Procedures

During the maternal separation paradigm, rat pups may experience a sustained period of psychological distress, but this distress will be relieved when the pups are returned to their mothers. This distress is necessary in order to model early life trauma in humans. In all other procedures rats will experience no pain or distress or momentary pain or distress. Tail snipping procedures for genotyping the pups will follow established ethical care standards (TaqMan

genotyping assay, Applied Biosystems, Irvine, CA) and rats will be anesthetized prior to

sacrifice and brain dissection.

Estimated Budget

Expenditure	Description/Notes	Cost
Genetically manipulated rat	Purchased from Charles River	\$500 setup per genetic
dams	Genetically Engineered Model	manipulation, plus \$150 per
	Services	pregnant dam
Rat housing fees	Cages, lining, food, water	\$4.41 cage setup, plus \$1.47
	bottles, incubators, sucrose	per cage per day for housing
	solution,	
Behavioral Testing Materials	Testing chamber, sucrose	\$3 200
	solution	\$5,200
Chemicals and PCR and	HPLC columns, reagents,	\$5,000
HPLC equipment	buffers, vials	
Payment of Research	Two laboratory technicians,	\$14,800
Assistants	40 hours/week, 10 weeks	
Miscellaneous laboratory	Pipette tips, dissection	\$7,000
supplies	materials, etc,	

Experiment Timeline

Procedure	Duration	Study Milestone
Housing pregnant mothers until birth	1 week	Week 1: Litter delivery; culling
Experimental Paradigm PND 0- PND 33	~5 weeks	Week 6: Early life stress, maternal separation vs. control handling; collection of fecal material; sucrose consumption measurements
Brain Dissection	1 week	Week 7: Collection of striata for analysis of dopamine by HPLC
Data Analysis	3 weeks	Week 10: Completion of study